Clinical Education in Transition: Recommendations and Strategies from the Clinical Education Task Force of the Association of Schools of Allied Health Professions

Robert McLaughlin, Roy Anderson, Benjamin Ayzenberg, Joseph Cameron Jr., Kyle Keahey, Christopher O'Brien, Barbara Romig, Jacquelyn Sample, Yasmen Simonian, Troy Tynsky, Barbara Wallace, Marcie Weinstein, Scott Westervelt, Julie O'Sullivan-Maillet

Clinical Education Task Force
Association of Schools of Allied Health Professions
122 C. St. NW Suite 650, Washington, DC 20001

The ASAHP Clinical Education Task Force conducts ongoing literature review and research for ASAHP, on behalf of deans and other stakeholders, to improve and strengthen the value of health science clinical education programs to ensure safe, quality, cost effective care.

Copyright ASAHP 2018

ASAHP Clinical Education Paper

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	2
Introduction	5
Chapter 1	6
United States Healthcare Environment	
Infrastructure and Spending	
Health of the Nation & Models of Care	
Evolving Healthcare, Technologies, Influences, and Visioning	9
Chapter 2	14
Higher Education for Health Professions	14
Evolving Pedagogy	
Analyzing Clinical Education Costs	16
Clinical Competencies, Technology, and Accreditation	
Growing Education Programs and Student Access	22
Chapter 3	27
Clinical Education Past, Present, Future	
Theoretical Clinical Educational Models	28
Traditional Clinical Education Models	29
Emerging Clinical Education Models	
Interprofessional Education Models (IPE)	
Educational Technology in Clinical Education	37
Chapter 4	40
Priorities for Clinical Education Leaders	
Recommendations and Action Strategies	
Conclusion	46
Tables	18
Tables	
Table 2. Potential Research Variables for Clinical Education and Scholarship	
Table 3. Potential Agents of Action Strategies	
Poforoncos	40

Executive Summary

The theory, intersecting competencies, settings, practice models, interdisciplinary team functions, and economies of allied health clinical education are all in flux in contemporary healthcare, creating both a threat and opportunity for truly disruptive innovations to change the educational landscape. It is toward these possibilities that this paper turns its focus. Change is inevitable, and the Association of Schools of Allied Health Professions (ASAHP) and Allied Health (AH) deans, collectively and individually, must determine what priorities and strategies to embrace in advancing the future of AH education and client/patient care.

This paper offers five overarching recommendations and proposes action strategies for educating students in the clinical environment over the next decade. The recommendations for the association, ASAHP deans and their institutions and the association are:

- Develop meaningful strategic partnerships with healthcare organizations to prioritize evolving needs for current and future healthcare
- 2. Adapt pre-clinical curriculum and clinical education assessments to meet contemporary needs for efficient and effective interprofessional practice (IPP)
- Incorporate effective use of healthcare technology into allied health education and practice

- 4. Advocate with healthcare systems, higher education leadership, accreditors, professional organizations, and governmental agencies, to foster IPP and to encourage informed referrals across disciplines to improve patient/client care
- Drive excellence in clinical education through promotion of research and scholarly activity.

We offer myriad of strategies and identify likely agents of change for each, in recognition of priorities and resources according to institutional needs. In four chapters, we highlight contexts and approaches to educational and healthcare partnerships that optimize student preparedness to become productive members of the healthcare workforce. Chapter 1 summarizes ongoing changes in the healthcare environment.

Chapter 2 explores challenges occurring in higher education with a particular eye toward clinical education for allied health practitioners. Chapter 3 contains a review of existing models for clinical education. Chapter 4 expands on the five recommendations above with specific strategies aligned to each, and concludes with our vision of shared stakeholder commitment to sustainable clinical education that produces safe and effective clinical competencies among the healthcare providers of the future.

Multiple converging issues cause allied health deans, educators and practitioners to reconsider clinical education priorities and strategies to strengthen how we approach clinical education. We encourage reliance on testing, studying and reporting on various models of clinical education, including simulation training and technological approaches to student acquisition of clinical competencies, to optimize opportunities to graduate

competent practitioners. These methods afford guidance toward less stressful and more efficient learning systems than the traditional models while providing value to all stakeholders in educational and healthcare arenas.

Introduction

The theory, intersecting competencies, settings, practice models, interdisciplinary team functions, and economies of allied health clinical education are all in flux in contemporary healthcare, creating both a threat and opportunity for truly disruptive innovations to change the educational landscape. It is toward these possibilities that this paper turns its focus. Change is inevitable, and the Association of Schools of Allied Health Professions (ASAHP) and Allied Health (AH) dean leadership, collectively and individually, must determine what priorities and strategies to embrace in advancing the future of AH education and client/patient care.

This paper on clinical education highlights issues and changes in the healthcare environment, in higher education, and in allied health clinical education that cause allied health deans, educators and practitioners to reconsider priorities and strategies to strengthen their approaches to clinical education.

Chapter 1

United States Healthcare Environment

Infrastructure and Spending

Widespread closings of community hospitals and increasing projections of physician shortages have raised national alarm. The American Hospital Association reports that 4840 of the 5534 registered hospitals in the U.S., about 85%, are considered community hospitals. Nearly one-third of community hospitals are rural hospitals (1,829), and a third of those across 42 states (673) are at risk of closing.² In fact. 80 rural hospitals closed in the six years prior to December 2016.3 Total inpatient hospital beds dropped from 32.8 per 1,000 people in 1990 to 17.3 in 2014, a decrease of 47%. according to Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS).4 The Association of American Medical Colleges estimated the U.S. physician shortage will reach 61,700 to 94.700 physicians by 2025.² Furthermore, physicians spend, on average, 50% of their work day entering data into electronic health records and completing clerical work, only 27% of work hours interacting with patients, and an average of 785 hours (\$15.4 billion) per year dealing with quality measure reporting.⁵ In response to these gaps, not surprisingly, 13 of the top 20 fastest growing professions between 2014-2024 are in medical/healthcare professions.⁶ These trends show no sign of slowing.

Meanwhile, healthcare costs continue their steady rise. Becker's Hospital Reviews cited CMS Office of the Actuary data showing that annual healthcare spending in the U.S.

increased 5.8% from 2014 to 2015, growing to \$3.2 trillion, which accounted for 17.8% of the gross national product up from 17.4.7 According to Moody's Investors Services. the average operating margin for a non-profit hospital in 2012 was 2.5%.8 While many hospitals and health systems maintain profits in the current economic healthcare environment, others are looking for solutions through workforce reductions. In early 2017, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center cut its workforce by 5%, and Baptist Health cut 288 positions across its eight markets in Kentucky and southern Indiana. Hospitals attribute layoffs to electronic healthcare expenses, lower volumes and reimbursement than expected under the Affordable Care Act and a host of other issues.9 In concert with the advent of the Affordable Healthcare Act, CMS and the Center for Health and Human Services continue aggressive pursuit of value-based care initiatives that provide further strains to the system and the challenge to maintain profits. CMS is pushing to achieve 50% of Medicare payments in value-based payment models by the end of 2018.¹⁰ By March 2016, CMS was nine months ahead of schedule when it attained its goal of tying 30% of Medicare payments to quality services.² The financial picture for healthcare systems, clinicians, and patients remains volatile and uncertain.

Health of the Nation & Models of Care

Social determinants of health dictate that policy makers and educators recognize the preventable nature of most chronic illness and many acute health problems. While approximately 20% of an individual's healthcare is based on heredity and access to quality care, the remaining 80% is determined by physical environment, health

behaviors and socioeconomic factors.¹¹ Nearly 40% of all Americans are obese, 24% have a diet-related condition and 20 million live in so-called "food deserts" that lack access to nutritious food.² The Health Research Institute arm of PricewaterhouseCoopers reports that 68% of primary physicians are ill equipped to manage patients' social needs, and fewer than 50% believe they coordinate with the proper social service agencies. Sixty-eight percent of primary care physicians want mental health professionals on their primary care teams.¹²

A 2015 survey of 1,500 American primary care physicians, specialists, nurse practitioners, physician assistants and pharmacists, and 1,750 consumers found that:

- Most primary care teams are not designed to optimize care or meet consumer demands for convenience and value,
- Clinicians and consumers are ready to embrace broader care teams,
- Healthcare primary care dream teams should be based on the interplay of consumers' medical, social and behavioral health needs and preferences, and
- Healthcare organizations should assess the impact of a primary care dream team
 on their business models and understand how knowing their consumers, market
 dynamics and capabilities can help them achieve targeted return on
 investments¹³

"Most physicians choose their career because they want to help patients," said Marc Boom, M.D., president and Chief Executive Officer of Houston Methodist. "All too often, however, we are asked to solve issues unrelated to actual patient care, taking away

valuable time we could spend improving our patients' health. Practicing at the top of the license is something we all say, but we have way too many physicians practicing at the bottom."¹³

Evolving Healthcare, Technologies, Influences, and Visioning

The 2017 Healthcare Industry Brief identified contemporary priorities for healthcare systems, intended to inform strategies for health professions clinical education and workforce development.¹⁴ For that Brief, 100 healthcare executives and financial leaders from hospitals around the U.S. identified the following priorities for 2017 (percentage endorsement in parentheses).

- Measuring and managing patient outcomes and quality care (86%)
- Measuring and managing cost, spending and utilization (84%)
- Measure and managing patient satisfaction (74%)
- Managing the organizations' transition from fee-for-service to value-based care
 (46%)
- Measuring and managing revenue growth (43%).¹⁴

For healthcare organizations to shift successfully from volume-based to value-based care, as these priorities compel, they will need to adapt, innovate and build new programs and approaches to their work; these processes may strengthen the position of allied health professions. An opinion in the Harvard Business Review suggests,

Rather than ask complex, high-cost institutions and expensive, specialized professionals to move down-market, we need to look at the problem in a

very different way. Managers and technologies need to focus instead on enabling less expensive professionals to do progressively more sophisticated things in less expensive settings.

Optimization of workforce practices, and efficient delegation of services across a skilled team of diverse professionals, will be required to maintain quality of care and reduce cost.¹⁵

As an example, an Australian group examined the roles of advanced practitioners and expanded scopes of practice for allied health professionals. This group asserted that advanced practitioners, especially those authorized to prescribe, can improve access to care and reduce cost of delivering care by freeing up medical care time. Another Australian team studied opinions on strategies to maximize clinical value provided by allied health professionals. Their perspective was that allied health professionals could "assist in maximizing value and sustainability of healthcare" (p.194) through engaging individuals in decision-making and self-care and advocating for integrated healthcare systems that keep individuals living independently. They also suggested that students can be trained to look for and suggest improvements to practice in the workplace, enhancing their value to worksites that conduct clinical education.

A significant requirement of the integrated "dream team" concept is ensuring that team members know the roles and responsibilities of each contributing discipline and that all are supported to practice at the top of their respective licenses, necessitating advocacy

for modifying scopes of practice of various health professions to ensure meaningful efficiencies for healthcare systems. The ability to create and sustain such a dynamic is encompassed in the notion of a "Learning Health System" based on an Institute of Medicine framework. In this perspective, the shared vision across healthcare systems creates a synergy among the various missions that continually improves "health and healthcare through advancing, applying, and disseminating knowledge" (p.1109) with constant system improvement.¹⁸

PricewaterhouseCoopers Health Research Institute also invoked the concept of a dream team, stating that a "dream team designed around the needs of complex, chronic consumers, for example, could potentially result in \$1.2 million in savings for every 10,000 patients served." The team would provide healthcare and wellness, based on the needs of the community, and achieve a return on investment. When primary care physicians were asked who would be on their dream team if cost were not an issue, their responses included dietitians, mental health providers, home health and community health workers, social workers, physical and occupational therapists, and more, with responses varying based on the type of consumers, such as children or elderly, and the types of presenting health issues in thee clinical sites. ¹³

On March 5, 2017, *The New York Times* repeated an H.G. Wells quote from its 1939 World of Tomorrow special edition:

It is so close a Tomorrow that it is almost Today when it will be possible for a dozen men or a score of men to sit in conference seeing and hearing each other, by radio, television, telephone, when bodily they are hundreds of miles apart. (p. A2)¹⁹

Within healthcare, advances in technology are occurring rapidly but the care experience and technology have not fully kept pace. One in three people have used telehealth²⁰ and it may soon be standard practice that retail clinics and urgent centers will exploit technology to screen patients via computers, phones, visual images, or videos to determine whether a diagnosis requires an in-person visit. Visualize that large screen monitors at home, in hospitals or elsewhere, will allow patients to visit with families and friends, as well as to be examined virtually. Still, even while healthcare has advanced greatly in monitoring patients from a distance, data transfer to and among health providers with due consideration to privacy and confidentiality is in its infancy.

Investment in technology directly supports the goals for improved health outcomes at a lower cost as suggested by the Triple Aim²¹, or more recently, the Quadruple Aim but the needed resources to achieve this level of sophistication are lacking.

Reports of the PricewaterhouseCoopers 2017 Global CEO Survey stressed the need for efficiencies in use of artificial intelligence (AI) and Big Data, and for strengthened innovation. They project that patient/doctor balance in accountability for care will shift further to the patient as email, phone and health communication portals grow to exceed in-person consultation.²⁰ The use of AI and virtual reality in care and education will

increase. In the Harvard Business Review, June 2017, Anderson, Martin and Mate advocate to develop systems where patients are supported to administer their own care for routine specific procedures, such as administering IV antibiotics or setting-up, plugging-in, and cleaning-up during dialysis. In some circumstances, such mechanisms have been shown to yield improved outcomes and reduced cost.²²

Chapter 2

Higher Education for Health Professions

Evolving Pedagogy

In 2010. The Lancet commissioned an international collaboration of educators and policy leaders who observed that health professions education had failed to address rapid demographic and epidemiological transitions that threaten healthcare worldwide. Transformative change in healthcare education was proposed to establish a mindset to prepare health professionals to function in a globally interdependent world.²³ A "third generation" of healthcare education was proposed, to follow the historical approach to teach the science of physiology and disease processes and the more contemporary pedagogy of problem-based education focused on critical reasoning skills. The new global vision was that health professionals be educated to access scientific knowledge, as well as to engage critical reasoning in the context of strong ethical foundations, in order to ensure individual competencies to perform in systems that prioritize both patient-centered care and population-centered health. This call engaged leaders in academic and professional communities, backed by broad political and social investment in health professions education, and encouraged effective stewardship of resources. The realization of this vision will require development of metrics, evaluation and research that promotes effective innovations tailored to current and evolving circumstances.

The trend toward competency-based education illustrates that leaders in allied health education are centrally positioned to embrace The Lancet report's vision, and to determine practical strategies to transform today's learners into tomorrow's clinical professionals, who are prepared for an uncertain healthcare environment. ²³ Educational leaders recognize that graduated clinical exposure and experience are pivotal to the aim of professional transformation of the individual learner, and are mindful of the need for thoughtful attunement to this aim amidst complex systems that educational institutions do not control. Education leaders embrace the opportunity to fulfill this aim through collaboration among all invested stakeholders as a means to develop effective models of clinical education that work in today's environment.

As healthcare is poised to shift from acute care hospitals to community settings such as outpatient clinics and geographically disbursed urgent and emergency care centers, educators are faced with the challenge to prepare students for emerging delivery models. Clinical education still primarily occurs in hospitals, so education programs need to develop new ways to prepare students to anticipate and cope with transformations in healthcare delivery.²⁴ Contemporary healthcare models not only demand innovative approaches to pre-professional education, but also need to anticipate the need to retrain the existing workforce, opening the door for timely collaborations between educators and healthcare systems.

Analyzing Clinical Education Costs

It is broadly assumed that clinical education in the health professions is expensive, but methodologies to analyze costs are based on inconsistent assumptions and practices. Concern has emerged over several decades about the cost-benefit analysis approach in which representatives of clinical placements simply opine about a range of monetary and non-monetary costs associated with hosting student clinicians ²⁵⁻²⁹ By self-report, staff members cite increased time working and decreased productivity as costs of supervisory responsibility. ²⁷ Occupational therapists and dietetics educators have reported additional stress due to supervisory responsibility, a complaint echoed by other disciplines along with the frustration of working with challenging students. ^{30,31,28} Increased costs for materials and supplies used by student clinicians have also been reported. ²⁹

Some more sophisticated cost-benefit and cost-effectiveness analyses designed to identify the economics of clinical education have met with limited success. Findings of cost analyses that attempt to operationalize the value of supervisors' time, number of patients seen by learners, staff time devoted to student education, and student use of equipment and supplies, have been inconclusive. Dizon, Grimmer-Somers and Kumar (2012) conducted a systematic review of allied health clinical education, using the Briggs format, and found improvements in learning outcomes, but the research was so limited in number and rigor that they could not conclude what components of training contributed to beneficial outcomes. A British effort to cost out expenses for clinical

training detailed a complex methodology that considered myriad cost components, including pre-placement costs, direct teaching, staff training and time spent in courses and while delivering patient care, overhead costs for facilities, administration, central education, and library access, cost of reviewing trainee's work products, expenses for sources and exams, trainee time in coursework, and outside educational activities. ³⁴ While rigorous, the methodology has been questioned with regard to its philosophy and assumptions. Among the assumptions are that all undergraduate students' time on site is spent in training and not in delivering service, that degree of faculty oversight distinguishes whether the activity counts as learning or service, and that a standard percentage of additional time is required for training whenever a student is present for a clinical service. ³⁵

Numerous methodologies and analytics have been used, making comparisons across studies difficult.³⁶ Nevertheless, anecdotal evidence continues to perpetuate the notion that clinical education is costly.³⁷

Clinical Competencies, Technology, and Accreditation

Accrediting organizations are in a position to champion advances in health professions education to advance the development and dissemination of competency-based curricula that better meet patient needs, and to encourage curricula based on effective partnerships between educators, patients, families, and communities.³⁸ Competency-based assessments and education have been incorporated into the standards of

several professions including physicians³⁹ and physician assistants.⁴⁰ A recent National Academies Workshop that explored how accreditation agencies might approach core competencies, particularly with regard to competencies that span health professions, proposed that professions reach agreement on common core competencies to align in education and practice; at present, insufficient collaboration and consistency were seen across accrediting and certifying bodies for this to occur.²⁴ Nearly ubiquitous among competencies recommended or required in allied health education are the core competencies generally adopted for interprofessional education (IPE) and practice.⁴¹ The National Center for Interprofessional Practice and Education is collaborating with the Health Professions Accreditors Collaborative to encourage the Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Education Programs⁴² to include IPE as an outcome of professional education programs.⁴³ Accreditation agencies have been encouraged to promote the Quadruple Aim of healthcare, as well.⁴⁴

The Josiah Macy Jr. Foundation conducted a 2015 conference on Enhancing Health Professions Education through Technology: Building a Continuously Learning Health System. ⁴⁵ Participants observed that the course of study for health professions tends to be lengthening to accommodate added coursework to ensure competencies for an increasingly complex healthcare system, even as increasing workforce demands suggest the need to accelerate introduction of new graduates into the workforce. This tension supports their recommendations that healthcare education become more efficient and flexible, educational pathways leading to service be streamlined, on-the-job

experience be expected to shorten the time to degree, and informal programs be implemented that support mid-career job changes to include advanced specialized training as an individual's career develops. A further implication is that collaboration between workplaces and educational programs will ensure graduate preparation for lifelong and continuous learning, with the expectation that they will need to demonstrate competencies for the duration of their careers.⁴⁶

Technology is expected to improve opportunities for efficient assessment of knowledge and skills gaps for both students and practicing professionals, enabling educators to anticipate and provide the information clinicians need in real-time to support flexible learning and optimal care. Learners should acquire the skills to tackle increasingly complex problems in a safe simulation environment through deliberate interprofessional practice. An example has been offered in which, "virtual patients are used widely in clinical education to fill gaps in clinical exposure, and to provide learners the important experience of evaluating undiagnosed patients".

Wide support exists for simulation education, which applies to specific skills training as well as to integration of complex team-based communications and workflow efficiencies. Simulation learning has been tied to improved quality of care.⁴⁹ Educational technologies include the use of high fidelity full-body, torso, and focal anatomical simulators across health professions education; virtual patients; and environmental simulations including simulated operating and emergency rooms located in hospitals for

practice in team-related communication and clinical workflow exercises; as well as virtual reality simulators that invoke sensory experiences to emulate real-life critical patient incidents.⁴⁶

Further, randomized controlled trials have found that replacement of one week of a four-week clinical experience in musculoskeletal practice for physiotherapy students yielded blind assessments of student competencies equivalent to those of students with traditional full clinical experiences, suggesting that simulation may be substituted for clinical experience at least with regard to some elements of clinical education.⁵⁰ Low and moderate fidelity simulation and critical event training can help with communication, minimize errors, and optimize patient safety in complex care, with the use of existing models to conduct and debrief critical learning exercises to address appropriate assertion, use of clear and critical language, and situational awareness.⁵¹ Because simulation is an effective vehicle for (IPE), and can be substituted for some elements of clinical experience, programs are advised to build capacity through simulation-based IPE/IPP.⁵²

Technology is changing the look and feel of education on campuses and through learning management systems, allowing computer-based education on and off campus. The consolidation of programs, mergers of schools, and creation of international partnerships are anticipated to continue Nancarrow, Moran and Graham suggest that didactic education could occur through massive open online course or other

technologies, especially for paraprofessionals wanting a bump up the career ladder⁵³. Further, they assert that "poorly constructed models of clinical placements actually detract from service capacity and productivity". The authors and the Macy Foundation highlight the efficacy of competency-based or milestone-based over time-based or hourbased models.

Many allied health and nursing education programs are already striving for competency-based education. Brooks (2016) states in an article on new roles for nursing that simulation education may increase from 25% to 50% of clinical preparation and anticipates that nursing will be conceptualized to include specific competencies in health counseling, community health and population health⁵⁴. This evolution of competencies resonates in allied health education, as well. A Macy Foundation monograph cites evidence regarding use of educational technologies (p 79-81). It also includes recommendations for programs to maximize effective use of technology (p 84-88).⁴⁶

Tension exists with regard to the role of accreditation relative to educational innovation; educational leaders have historically experienced accreditation as more to protect the public than to dictate pedagogies and educational philosophies, and more to hinder than to encourage innovation Furthermore, in the current environment, it is questionable whether accreditation can adapt as rapidly as transformations in the healthcare system occur.²⁴ The Council for Higher Education Accreditation has taken a position to encourage a decreased federal presence in accreditation in order to reduce undue

regulatory burden and to encourage accreditors to value innovation and acquire greater flexibility to design innovative accreditation practices themselves.⁵⁵ On the other hand, changes in the educational landscape, such as the proliferation of for-profit schools that now offer health professions education, underscore the value of regulation as manifest in the accreditation review process. Accreditation has an increasing role in establishing a national and international system to ensure globally responsibility in which graduates of health professions programs meet standards for qualified professional practice.⁵⁶

Growing Education Programs and Student Access

Graduate programs in the health professions account for a significant portion of U.S. higher education graduates and have experienced enormous growth in recent years. Among the 20 largest fields of study analyzed by the National Center for Educational Statistics, from 2006 through 2015 the greatest number of doctoral degrees granted each year was in health professions and related fields.⁵⁷ Further, 61% more doctoral degrees in health professions were conferred in 2015 than 2005: from 44,200 to 71,000. Master's degrees in health professions experienced similar growth. The largest percentage increase in number of master's degrees conferred per year in these ten years was a 120% increase in health professions and related programs: from 46,700 to 103,000. Health professions were among the top three fields for associate's degrees across these years, as well.⁵⁷

Despite increasing numbers of graduates, financial constraints restrict the potential to develop a diverse healthcare workforce. The rapid growth in education programs is coincident with increases in tuition and fees and with decreases in sources of grant aid. which both threaten the capacity of educational institutions to enroll and retain underrepresented minority students and to develop a diverse workforce that reflects regional and national demographics. Annual appropriations battles create distractions and barriers to the ability of educational programs to focus resources on diversity recruitment and retention along with multiple growing demands, such as technological and pedagogical changes needed to prepare students to participate effectively in the future of healthcare. To achieve diversity aims in the healthcare workforce, the Department of Education and the Council for Higher Education have been encouraged to promote diversity criteria in health professions education through accreditation bodies, with recommendations to increase focus on innovations in student support such as scholarship and stipends in exchange for post-graduation service⁵⁸ and sustained support for health professions and nursing workforce development programs.⁵⁹ Increased loan forgiveness programs for allied health professions could reduce the economic burden of graduate allied health programs and promote diversity.

Rapid growth and spiraling costs affect the format and level of health professions education. A 2013 University of California report noted several trends in the development of health professions programs, including the rapid growth of programs and student enrollment, new business models and pedagogical formats, increased

costs to students, and higher student debt upon graduation. 60 One striking trend across higher education in general is the dramatic increase in for-profit school enrollment. which increased 236% from 1999 to 2009, compared public and private nonprofit institutions increases of 21% and 17%, respectively. In subsequent years, higher education has seen a "leveling off" of enrollment numbers, with minor decreases in all areas. For-profit enrollment in the academic year 2014-2015 saw a 10% decrease in enrollment, while non-profit schools saw a minor increase. 61 Through this period, forprofit institutions were seen to move from their initial focus on associate's degrees and certificate programs that educate "support occupations" (e.g., assistants within health disciplines) to more "advanced degree" health professions. The Ginder et al. report noted that the educational quality of the proliferating non-profit programs is not regulated by any single accreditation body across the U.S. or globally, and asserted the need to assess the quality and contributions of these new schools and programs. The report cited that the increased burden in accessing clinical training sites will negatively impact the quality and preparation of future graduates, if not corrected. A further trend is increased faculty shortages attributed to swelling numbers and sizes of programs, retirement of a generation of educators, and increased competition. Across all kinds of institutions, professional doctorates have increased markedly, and an increased proportion of schools have been seen to offer accelerated programs and online formats, at least for a portion of their curriculum. These changes are happening in the context of increased institutional pressures to minimize the expense of academic programs, while

states roll back financial support for higher education, and federal financial aid resources appear threatened.⁶¹

Schools of health professions are incorporating increased technology for curriculum delivery that includes distance learning (synchronous and asynchronous online learning) and increased reliance upon simulation training for clinical procedures. Yale University provides a case study in the prospects for on-line high-level health professions education; Yale achieved "accreditation-continued" ARC-PA status with ARC-PA for an online master's degree program in physician assistant studies, in which clinical education requirements may be met in part through program assignment of students to clinical rotations located in their home communities. 62

Not surprisingly, mounting strain within health education and healthcare systems has increased stress in students, faculty, and professionals, taking a toll on "productivity, efficiency, quality, and the human capital of the workforce". 63 Stresses include excessive workloads for students and educators. In academic and clinical sites, alike, increased demands for productivity by generating positive financial margins co-occurs with increased documentation requirements and limited administrative support, fueling perceptions that leadership and the institutional culture lack compassion. Effects of such stresses on faculty, administrators, and clinicians include exhaustion and poor health, decreased productivity and timeliness, increased errors and bad judgment, and

emotional burnout including frustration, depression, and diminished commitment and enthusiasm for the work. $^{63}\,$

Chapter 3

Clinical Education Past, Present, Future

Clinical education that confronts students with clinical, moral and ethical decision-making experiences is critical in determining the quality of allied health professional education.⁶⁴ Romig and colleagues provide a functional description of AH clinical education settings and purposes:

Clinical education takes place in a variety of settings including, but not limited to, the classroom, simulation and standardized patient activities, and clinical/community/patient care settings. It provides students with the education and experiences necessary to develop and refine clinical skills, knowledge, attitudes, and values required to provide quality patient and client care (p.249)⁶⁵. While ASAHP deans likely concur on these conditions for clinical education, a review of the healthcare literature for well-defined clinical education models describes traditional theoretical and workplace assessments as well as nontraditional and evolving models, but no formally established, universally recognized, or standardized tools for measurement.

The literature on clinical education models highlights the importance of developing students into confident and competent healthcare practitioners. 66-68 Many educators aim to develop standardized models that ensure clinical competencies are reliably achieved. Wetherbee and colleagues determined five standards in clinical practica: format and

length of experience, breadth of experience, expected outcomes and assessment of student performance, standards for clinical instructors, and standards for clinical education sites. ⁶⁹ Mandy advocated providing current and relevant didactic courses to support student knowledge and skills required for the achievement of optimal clinical competence ⁷⁰ which DeClute & Ladyshewsky described to include patient evaluation, care planning and implementation, professional behavior, appropriate record documentation, communication, and management skills. ⁷¹ In their review of relevant research and ASAHP dean consensus, Romig's group extracted four common clinical education goals:

- Goal 1. Applying theory and didactic learning, coupled with practicing clinical skills and professionalism, into evidence-based, applied safe clinical practice. Goal 2. Orienting students to professional behaviors and attitudes within the clinical workplace.
- Goal 3. Developing professional, interpersonal communication skills and functioning within a team to provide patient/client care.
- Goal 4. Developing critical thinking, problem-solving and time management skills in the clinical setting. (p. 250)⁶⁵

Theoretical Clinical Educational Models

Table 1, page 48, summarizes theoretical and clinical models found in the allied health literature. Several of these clinical education theoretical models emphasize the importance of engaged and supportive clinical supervisors who are responsible to direct

the clinical education process and facilitate student learning. ⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸ Anderson's model of "dynamic supervision" described three stages in the clinical education continuum: evaluation-feedback, transitional period, and self-supervision. ⁶⁶ Theoretical models support the necessity to provide consistent and reliable student assessment⁷² using goal setting and reflection on clinical experiences coupled with debriefing. ⁷³ Clinical instruction should be individualized according to the student's readiness or maturity for a particular task. ^{74,75} In rehabilitation counseling, *the Hagler and McFarlane Coaching Model* (1992) demonstrated that student independence, creativity and self-supervision were positively impacted when clinical supervisors adopted a coaching versus supervisory role. ⁷⁶

Traditional Clinical Education Models

In nursing practicum experiences, pairing one student with one clinical instructor produced positive student outcomes in regard to increased sense of belonging, reduced anxiety, and enhanced learning. 77,78 Nevertheless, the capacity of this traditional *One-on-One Clinical Education Model* to develop student competencies and clinical course outcomes can be restrictive when clinical preceptor time is inadequate, clinical resources are limited, and clinical placements are in short supply 72,73,79 LeFlore, Anderson, Michael, Engle, and Anderson (2007) referred to the traditional clinical education model as "education by random opportunity" when it cannot ensure that students will reliably receive a planned experience with a suitable variety of patients and learning experiences.⁸⁰

The *Two-to-One Collaborative Clinical Education Model* (two students to one clinical preceptor) has been shown to increase placement capacity, as well as improve student learning and skill development and enhance faculty clinical knowledge and management skills.^{27,71,81-84} A systematic review of collaborative clinical education models in speech-language pathology revealed several advantages of student peer learning: higher clinical competence scores, increased student reflection, and increased student satisfaction.⁸¹ While the collaborative clinical model provided valuable learning experiences, it increased the clinical educators' administrative workload in placement site organization and student evaluations. A review of physical therapy clinical education models showed more consistent productivity outcomes for the one-to-one-model than the two-to-one model.²⁷

The *Multiple Mentoring Model* expanded the *Collaborative Model* and involved multiple clinicians supervising multiple students. Nolinske reported that occupational therapy students experienced both more positive professional relationships and emotional connections with more exposure to a variety of clinical faculty and staff. ⁸⁵ Warne et al. (2010) used a composite and comparative research method to assess the clinical learning environment of nursing students in nine European countries. This research showed positive student feedback when multiple clinicians supervised nursing students using the *Multiple Mentoring Model*. ⁸⁶ While the literature documents benefits of

collaborative and mentorship relationships from clinical faculty and student perspectives, roles and responsibilities in the mentorship process deserve further study.

Among the parameters differing among clinical education practices is the length of time in the clinic.87 Longer clinical experiences limited to a single setting may improve the depth of clinical training for that site but reduce exposure to complex and variable medical conditions more likely to be found in across multiple or specialty practice environments.⁸⁸ To integrate clinical learning experiences, Harvard Medical School-Cambridge instituted the Cambridge Integrated Clerkship Model (CIC), a one-year principal clinical training opportunity that fostered student learning in close and continuous contact with cohorts of patients from multiple venues of care.89 A team of experienced educators who facilitated didactic and clinical learning experiences for each student collaborated to supervise the student's development and benchmark achievements, and provided collaborative and supportive relationships. The popularity of the program ultimately necessitated random assignment to place students into CIC, as student demand exceeded capacity. The longitudinal integrated clerkship demonstrated higher student satisfaction with the learning environment, equal or better content knowledge and clinical skills than traditionally trained peers, more confidence in dealing with numerous domains of patient care, and a stronger attitude of patientcenteredness. 90

In some settings, traditional models have evolved to adopt a blended learning approach, capitalizing on technological advances such as web-based learning, a coaching approach, and student peer learning to support clinical training and provide accessible and convenient learner-centered educational methods.⁹¹ Although blended learning has been shown to bridge the gap between theory and practice, while improving clinical competencies in therapeutic technique and clinical laboratory skills, few studies in the clinical education arena exist that explore blended learning methods.⁹²

Ladyshewsky (2006) found that academic programs that used the high-quality cooperative learning system of the *Peer Coaching and Supervision Model* prepared student learners to carry these cooperative behaviors and team skills into the clinical environment and professional workplace upon graduation. ⁹³ The *Peer Coaching and Supervision Model* was comprised of an eight-stage structured and formal allied health student pairing model to supplement clinical instructor efforts. ⁹⁴ The model structured the student learning experience around several components of clinical competency: recognition of needed support in applying techniques, training with the demonstration of the new practice behaviors, opportunity for practice, non-evaluative feedback and questioning, and self-assessment. This approach enhanced learning for novice AH students in multiple domains including: clinical competence, communication skills, ability to give and receive constructive feedback, problem solving skills, critical thinking, professionalism, and stress management. ⁹⁴

The *Clinical Teaching Nursing Model* that used staff nurses to assist faculty members in the direct clinical supervision of students showed that students and faculty benefited from increased contact time between students and preceptors, better use of faculty time, and instruction of students by clinical experts.⁹⁵ Students scored high in integration of theory into practice, realistic perception of work environment, and use of evidence-based practice.^{96,97} The model's limitation was that fewer nursing students received individual or one-to-one preceptor support due to the emphasis on faculty training students in teams.

A systematic review of the clinical education literature found no consensus for a "gold standard" or superior model of clinical education and substantial variability of models among professions.⁹⁸ To address best practice in clinical education practica, some disciplines have called for a national dialogue to determine standards that facilitate education to produce the most competent clinicians.⁹⁹

Emerging Clinical Education Models

Clinical education has evolved from a traditional clinical or hospital setting using available patient populations to diverse educational models that include blended learning⁹¹, coaching²⁷, interdisciplinary structures.^{100,101}, or clinical education technologies.¹⁰² Over time, the benefits of traditional methods of clinical education have been well accepted, without rigorous attention to which elements accounted for learning, whereas alternative or nontraditional methods in clinical education now require

empirical evidence to facilitate adoption for which educational researchers are beginning to develop effective methodologies to document success. Health professions schools are advised to collect and analyze student and graduate feedback on educational preparedness and clinical experiences¹⁰³; student evaluations are important contributions to continuous quality improvement. Wilkinson, Smallidge, Boyd, and Giblin (2015) examined student perceptions of the effectiveness of methods used to close the gap between classroom learning and the clinical experience. 104 Junior students predicted that hands-on experiences, critical thinking exercises, and visual aids would be the most supportive methods to facilitate transfer of knowledge to practice. Senior students proficient in the clinical setting identified critical thinking exercises and visual aids as most beneficial in connecting classroom learning to patient care. 104 Cole and Wessel (2008) reported that students achieved positive learning when theory was linked to clinical practice and supervisor assessment was provided on skills and patient interaction. 105 Student access to adequate educational resources has also been associated with optimized clinical learning. 106 Continued innovation and creative methodologies that incorporate learner views are needed to document enhancements in clinical education effectiveness and efficiency and to assure that students acquire the competencies to enter the healthcare marketplace.

Learner self-efficacy suggests another important indicator of readiness to practice, regardless of the practice setting. OT students demonstrated similar professional and personal skills in traditional hospital-based and nontraditional community-based clinical

settings. Interestingly however, the students at community-based sites where their OT supervisor was not present reported higher perceptions of personal responsibility, cultural competence, and overall personal skills when compared to students whose placements had an active OT supervisor present.¹⁰⁷

Innovative clinical sites beyond traditional hospitals placements have been shown to provide suitable clinical education experiences, including student-run free clinics¹⁰⁸ and rural, underserved community clinics¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹². Additional clinical placement sites include: private practice offices; patient homes^{113,114}, and nursing homes.¹¹⁵ Interprofessional, specialist, and project placements have also been reported as viable alternatives.¹¹⁶ For example, occupational therapy students developed positive perceptions of their knowledge, skills, and confidence in their abilities to provide community-based services when they provided healthcare services to adult patients with neurological conditions.¹¹⁷ International pro-bono clinical experiences may also promote understanding of global healthcare, increase exposure to patient diversity, and develop critical thinking skills.¹¹⁸

Interprofessional Education Models (IPE)

The value of using an *Interprofessional Education Collaborative Model* over the limited traditional single-discipline model has been clearly communicated by researchers, health organizations, government bodies. ^{101,119-122} and healthcare leaders in various allied health professions, medicine, nursing, and pharmacy. ¹²³⁻¹²⁵ The benefits of an interdisciplinary model include appreciation and understanding of other professions'

clinical roles¹²⁶ and knowledge and access to other clinical practices.¹¹⁹ IPE in didactic-based teaching, simulation-based learning, and clinical experiences, has demonstrated a positive impact on the healthcare team's shared learning, interaction, and collaboration in the determination of patient healthcare goals.^{100,127}

Clinical education with additive interdisciplinary approaches has been used successfully in the rehabilitation clinical setting with physical therapy, occupational therapy, and speech-language pathology students and clinicians to help learners attain discipline-specific learning objectives as well as interdisciplinary skills. 127 In dietetic education, IPE has been used to provide greater depth and range of learning through employing several supervisors from different professional backgrounds. 83 Interdisciplinary simulation experiences can also be implemented to advance team building skills. 100,128-132 In a simulation-based workshop designed to teach healthcare students about various health professions, allied health and medical students coordinated patient care using shared learning, interaction and collaboration. 100 Positive student feedback supported the use of a IPE workshop model in didactic-based teachings, simulation-based learning and clinical experiences. Simulation training can be used effectively in an interprofessional format, allowing students to gain knowledge of other professions and engage in realistic collaborative patient treatment. 133,134

Students appreciate IPE experiences as means to improve patient care, advance their careers, and satisfy curiosity about related disciplines and their healthcare reform

initiatives.¹³⁵ With the shift of healthcare toward collaborative, team-based care models to support patient safety and quality healthcare, student demonstration of IPE standards and IPP practices promotes student recruitment and hiring.¹²⁰ Student awareness of the professional contributions and value of all healthcare team members improves when interprofessional teamwork is included in clinical education^{124,135} which may encourage them to be more collaborative in the healthcare workplace.^{101,101,120}

It is critical to prioritize the support and sustainability of IPE initiatives among key stakeholders in the clinical education arena including health services, regulatory authorities, and education leaders. Allied health deans value the impact of IPE clinical education initiatives at their respective institutions. The deans supported curriculum competencies in team building, management and leadership skills, and patient-centered care, to enhance student preparation to be IPE "ready" in the clinical education environment; deans recognized that prioritizing IPE education and training may positively impact student recruitment at their institutions. 137

Educational Technology in Clinical Education

When integrated with the clinical model, educational technologies can augment faculty and student learning, validate clinical competencies with real world experience, and reduce clinical education costs and time. Instruction using simulation-based technology can develop skills and clinical competencies, shape clinical practice strategies, and build student self-confidence. 133,138-141 Students often request that clinical training

incorporate additional simulation and educational technology experiences.¹⁴² Further, students view simulation as a useful tool for evaluating their professional and clinical behaviors.¹⁴⁰

Manikins, simulated patients, and anatomic simulators were the most common technologies used in the healthcare arena based upon a 2011 literature search. 143 "Role-playing, task trainers (e.g., plastic arm on which to practice inserting intravenous catheters), standardized patients using actors, human patient simulators (e.g., SimMan®), and virtual simulation (e.g., Second Life®) are commonly reported nursing simulation learning tools" (p. 227) that can be incorporated in health professions curricula to teach a range of skills. 144 The use of virtual patients with realistic scenarios who are responsive to user interaction and provide assessment feedback is relevant to clinical reasoning skill development. 145 High-fidelity patient simulators create real-life clinical situations that students may substitute for equally valuable clinical learning experiences. 144

The benefits of simulation in student clinical education are well documented, but it can be time consuming and expensive. 134 Due to the expense, careful attention is required to select the appropriate simulation technology for the intended learning environment and to determine whether low- or high-fidelity simulation equipment is more suitable for the learning objectives desired. 146 In general, novice students can obtain meaningful learning with less sophisticated educational technology, such as computer-aided

instruction or virtual patients, while higher fidelity is required for learning more technically advanced skills. To provide quality, cost effective learning, improved efficiency and productivity, health professions schools should strive to limit cost escalation by incorporating modern instructional methods and technological advances such as online learning and simulation.¹⁴⁷

Chapter 4

Priorities for Clinical Education Leaders

Educational priorities to improve clinical education include establishing a positive learning climate, and structured modeling and learning experiences, as well as utilization of student feedback. The literature documents the benefits of collaborative clinical models, including increased placement capacity, improved student learning and skill development, and improved departmental productivity. Collaborative partnerships must be prioritized that pool clinical and financial resources, assure excellence in patient care and clinical outcomes, and offer incentives for clinical education. 71,81-84

In light of these priorities, we draw from the preceding chapters our five overarching recommendations and several action steps aligned to each, that can be implemented by various stakeholders in the clinical education enterprise. Table 3 (p. 53) replicates this list. We encourage readers to create alliances among stakeholder groups, discover synergies, and share resources, to make some of these suggestions realities. We further encourage researchers and clinicians to develop collaborative methodologies to assess learning and healthcare outcomes related to clearly articulated models of clinical education; these collaborations are necessary to establish the empirical base

educational leaders and healthcare professionals need to justify the resources required to produce health professions experts for the workplace.

Table 2 expands on opportunities to determine research questions and scholarly activities regarding clinical education. The chart uses the classical PICO model ¹⁴⁹ (population/problem, intervention, comparison and intervention) to identify researchable components of training that contribute to good student, preceptor, client or program outcomes. The table also suggests variables that can be operationalized to quantify components of research metrics and methods.

Recommendations and Action Strategies

Following are five major recommendations and action strategies aligned to each.

Recommendation 1: Develop meaningful strategic partnerships with healthcare organizations to prioritize evolving needs for current and future healthcare

Action strategies:

- Establish recurrent forum for exchange of information with each affiliated healthcare system in order to anticipate changing needs for clinical education access or curriculum
- 2. Align program objectives, health system objectives, and student learning objectives to ensure that all are consistent with current clinical practice

- Engage allied health clinicians to collaborate on curriculum development applicable to pre-clinical students and to practicing clinicians in communications skills to promote patient self-care education, autonomy, and empowerment
- 4. Identify care team competencies specific to serve targeted populations defined by common diseases or conditions, demographics, or cultures, to inform curriculum development for students and practicing clinicians across disciplines
- Expand experiential education into outpatient and community settings, and
 prepare students with competencies matched to the unique needs of treatment
 teams in each setting
- Proactively and systematically set shared expectations among learners, faculty, preceptors, and health systems administrators before students begin clinical rotations
- Conduct professional development opportunities for existing workforce,
 especially preceptors, that are co-designed with clinicians to assure currency and
 relevance to clinicians' career pathways
- 8. Apply metrics that measure value (clinical outcomes, patient satisfaction, cost of care) to examine the effects of students' clinical education processes in the clinical setting
- Validate tools to assess student outcomes in the clinical setting aligned to the needs of the healthcare system

Recommendation 2: Adapt pre-clinical curriculum and clinical education assessments to meet contemporary needs for efficient and effective interprofessional practice (IPP)

Action strategies:

- Integrate population health, cultural competency and IPP into core allied health curriculum
- Teach principles of teamwork based on informed awareness of their application in clinical education settings
- Implement clinical curricula for students and clinicians that empower
 professionals to work at the top of their scopes of practice, to negotiate roles with
 transparency and respect, and to delegate responsibilities consistently with
 workplace values
- 4. Develop and teach best practices for intra-and interprofessional delegation of duties that optimizes scopes of practice, maintains quality, and reduces cost
- Improve fidelity of preceptors' use of objective competency assessments, to include assessment of IPP competencies

Recommendation 3: Incorporate effective use of healthcare technology into allied health education and practice

Action strategies:

 Invest in and use educational technologies, including simulation, to teach and assess foundational knowledge

- Adopt hybrid learning methods including on-line learning to increase student access to educational resources and methods and prepare them as conscientious lifelong consumers of electronic educational resources
- Implement pre-clinical training on electronic communications and electronic health records to develop student competencies in documentation; consult affiliated health systems administrators to inform and teach this curriculum
- Teach data management and analysis techniques and artificial intelligence to meet current and future practice needs
- Incorporate telehealth education (skills and legal, ethical, and regulatory standards) into curriculum and, where applicable, provide experiential opportunities in practice settings

Recommendation 4: Advocate with healthcare systems, higher education leaders, accreditors, professional organizations, and governmental agencies, to foster and support Interprofessional practice and referrals across disciplines to improve client/patient care

Action strategies:

 Convene local, regional, and national meetings with stakeholder groups to influence educational and quality care models that produce competent clinicians

- Identify and minimize obstacles to effective IPP in concert with certification and licensure regulations in order to optimize practice with each profession's full scope of practice
- Work with accreditors to foster educational innovations and meaningful IPE activities
- 4. Reach across levels of higher education (two-year colleges through doctoral programs) to develop and align curricula that teach about allied health disciplines and to teach intra- and interprofessional negotiation and delegation skills
- 5. Investigate and design models for international partnerships to promote global health and create opportunities for student learning in global environments
- Develop collaborative funding proposals to support a "Learning Health Systems
 Approach" to care that promotes learning among students, clinicians, and
 patients/clients

Recommendation 5: Drive excellence in clinical education through promotion of research and scholarly activity

Action strategies:

 Evaluate and contrast traditional and innovative clinical models for efficiency and efficacy of student involvement in healthcare settings, from perspectives of patient/clients, preceptors and students (see Table 1 for models)

- Evaluate the contributions of didactic, simulation, and clinical experiences to educational outcomes
- Develop and validate reliable tools and methods to assess student competencies and clinical reasoning skills in relation to time-based and competency-based variable clinical education
- 4. Develop and validate tools and methodologies to measure how integration of clinical learning impacts value indicators such as healthcare outcomes, patient satisfaction, and cost of care
- Design, implement and evaluate curricula to enhance preceptor skills in clinical teaching and assessment
- Incorporate student and graduate judgements of clinical experiences and educational preparedness for continuous quality improvement
- 7. Disseminate research, scholarship, and best practices across ASAHP community

Conclusion

This paper offers broad considerations and practical recommendations aligned to vitalize clinical education and spark dialogue. The sustainability of a healthcare system that can propel the nation into the future depends on the recruitment and effective preparation of the next generation of learners, who will create the science and provide the clinical service. Educational leaders need strategies and resources to assure that diverse individuals see a future in the healthcare professions and that these learners succeed in learning to access and capitalize on the mounting body of evidence-based

science about health management, disease, and clinical treatment. The joint investment of all stakeholders is required to accomplish these aims, especially at a time when the economics, content, and methods of curriculum delivery in higher education, health professions education in particular, are all in flux. Academic and healthcare systems must create dynamic collaborations, locally and nationally, to leverage our mutual knowledge and to determine the future of healthcare practice; the economies of these systems will flourish only in a spirit of integrated needs and resources. A shared vision of seamless interprofessional client-centered practice that optimizes the skills of each profession requires accessible and affordable structures that funnel learners into healthcare careers; theories, models, and educational experiences that assure that they acquire safe and effective clinical competencies; and a viable healthcare system that welcomes them and enhances their skills throughout their career trajectories. The recommendations contained in this paper are offered in this spirit and toward these ends.

Tables

- **Table 1. Clinical Education Models**
- Table 2. Potential Research Variables for Clinical Education and Scholarship
- **Table 3. Potential Agents of Action Strategies**

Table 1. Clinical Education Models

Model	Description	Page
Theoretical		
Dynamic Supervision	Three-phase model, consisting of: 1) Evaluation-feedback phase 2) Transitional phase 3) Self-supervision phase. ⁶⁶	29
Coaching	Students receive feedback and instruction based upon readiness and maturity. Emphases of the model include student independence, creativity, and self-supervision. ⁷⁶	29
Current		
One-to-One	One student is paired with one clinical instructor for the duration of the clinical education. Documented student benefits include enhanced sense of belonging, reduced anxiety, and enhanced learning. ^{78,78} Documented challenges include restricted clinical experience (i.e., "education by random opportunity"), strains on clinical resources, and reduced placements. ^{72,73,79,80}	30
Collaborative Clinical Education: Two-to-One	Two students are paired with one clinical instructor for the duration of their clinical education. Documented benefits include improved student learning and skill development, increases in faculty clinical knowledge and management skills, and increased placement capacity. 27,71,81-84 A documented challenge is increased administrative workload for clinical instructors. 81	30
Multiple Mentoring	One student is supervised by multiple clinicians for the duration of the clinical education. 85 Documented benefits include students' building positive professional relationships and emotional connections with clinical faculty and staff. 86,86 A documented challenge is the lack of data on the formation of roles and responsibilities within the mentorship process.	30
Cambridge Integrated Clerkship	A one-year clinical training involving close and continuous contact with cohorts of patients from multiple venues of care. Each student learns from a team of experienced clinical	31

	instructors. ⁸⁹ Documented benefits include higher student satisfaction with learning environment, equal or better content knowledge than traditionally trained peers, more confidence in multiple patient domains, and a stronger sense of patient-centeredness. ^{90,90}	
Blended Learning	Combines multiple educational methods including trending technology, web-based, coaching, peer-to-peer. 91 Documented benefits include effective translation from theory to practice, improved therapeutic techniques, and laboratory skills. A documented challenge is the lack of data regarding efficacy. 91	32
Peer Coaching and Supervision	Structured and formalized learning experience designed to build competence and practice through: 1) Recognition of needed support in applying techniques 2) Training with the demonstration of the new practice behaviors 3) Opportunity for practice 4) Non-evaluative feedback and questioning 5) Self-assessment Documented benefits include enhanced learning in clinical competence, communication skills, giving and receiving feedback, problem-solving, professionalism, and stress management. ⁹⁴	32
Clinical Teaching Nursing Model	Utilizes professional nurses as a complement to formal clinical instructor-student relationship. Documented benefits include increased contact between students and instructors, efficient use of faculty time, high translation of theory to practice, realistic perceptions of work environment, and application of evidence-based practice. A documented challenge is that students potentially receive less one-to-one instructor time due to emphasis on student team training.	33
Alternative		
Student-Run Free Clinics	Seen particularly in occupational therapy, such clinical education occurs most often in largely underserved rural community clinics. 108-112	35

	ocumented student benefits include development of a positive perception of their knowledge, skills, and self-efficacy providing community-patient services.							
Interprofessional Education								
Inter- disciplinary Teamwork	Clinical instructors supervise discipline-specific learning activities, as well as clinical experiences that overlap into related healthcare disciplines (commonly seen in Occupational Therapy, Physical Therapy, and Speech and Language Pathology clinical education). 83,127 Documented benefits include increased healthcare team communication and teambuilding, enhanced understanding of clinical roles, greater knowledge and access to other clinical practices. 119,124,126,135,137	35						

Table 2. Potential Research Variables for Clinical Education and Scholarship

Table 2. Potential i	Resea	rch Variables for Clinical Education and Scholarship								
Population →		Interven	tion →	Comparison →						
1) Student 2) Preceptor 3) Client/patient 4) Academic Faculty/School Students Self-reported competence and confidence Self-reported satisf with CE model Knowledge for pracand use of evidence Learning in real tim Competency for pracactivities Interprofessional skunderstanding of	faction ctice se ne actice sional	Various educational mode Alternatives that suppler part of clinical education • Simulations • Virtual patients rath patients • Telehealth care • Alternate sites, such	ves that supplement or substitute for delinical education dulations and patients rather than clinical ents ehealth care ernate sites, such as student run clinics Outcomes Clients/patients of Satisfaction with provided healthcare onsibilities onsibilities ons and load levels essand load levels onsibilities of Satisfaction with provided healthcare onsibilities of Satisfaction with provided healthcare on Perceptions of value related to student presence in healthcare activities on Facility-reported length of stay, length of treatment of treatment of treatment of treatment of treatment of treatment of safety and							
understanding of values/ethics, roles/responsibilitie interprofessional communication, teams/teamwork Cultural competence Global experience Cost of education			 to foster health Willingness to try health changes Cost of care 	workload in clinical education						
		Measurem								
Self report on outcomes	o Ob o Pro o Pro Evi	ack from preceptors, mic faculty and /or clients servation esentations ojects, QI, research, dence analysis reviews erprofessional eractions	 Reliable and valid Pre-clinical skills of to workplace complex Workload variabili 	nent of competencies idated tools s evaluation as compared mpetency ility ct quality improvement ency						

Example of research question using Table 2:

Does the One-to-One Model or Blended Learning Model promote higher entry-level competency in allied health students, as reported by preceptors?

Table 3. Potential Agents of Action Strategies

RECOMMENDATION #1	Agents												
Develop meaningful strategic partnerships				Ą	geni	5							
with healthcare organizations to prioritize evolving needs for current and future healthcare	litors		nment	Healthcare Orgs	ts	otors	Professional Orgs	Program/Faculty	ıts				
Action Steps	Accred	Accred	Accreditors	Accred	Deans	Goveri	Government	Health	Patients	Preceptors	Profes	Progra	Students
Establish recurrent forum for exchange of information with each affiliated healthcare system in order to anticipate changing needs for clinical education access or curriculum													
Align program objectives, health system objectives, and student learning objectives to ensure that all are consistent with current clinical practice													
3. Engage allied health clinicians to collaborate on curriculum development applicable to preclinical students and to practicing clinicians in communications skills to promote patient self-care education, autonomy, and empowerment													
Identify care team competencies specific to serve targeted populations defined by common diseases or conditions, demographics, or cultures, to inform curriculum development for students and practicing clinicians across disciplines													
5. Expand experiential education into outpatient and community settings, and prepare students with competencies matched to the unique needs of treatment teams in each setting													
Proactively and systematically set shared expectations among learners, faculty, preceptors, and health systems administrators before students begin clinical rotations													
7. Conduct professional development opportunities for existing workforce, especially preceptors, that are co-designed with clinicians to assure currency and relevance to clinicians' career pathways													

8. Apply metrics that measure value (clinical outcomes, patient satisfaction, cost of care) to examine the effects of students' clinical education processes in the clinical setting					
Validate tools to assess student outcomes in the clinical setting aligned to the needs of the healthcare system					

RECOMMENDATION #2				Αţ	gent	s			
Adapt pre-clinical curriculum and clinical education assessments to meet contemporary needs for efficient and effective interprofessional practice (IPP)	Accreditors	Deans	Sovernment	Healthcare Orgs	atients	Preceptors	Professional Orgs	Program/Faculty	Students
Action Strategies	Acc	Dea	Go	Нея	Pat	Pre	Pro	Pro	Stu
Integrate population health, cultural competency and IPP into core allied health curriculum									
Teach principles of teamwork based on informed awareness of their application in clinical education settings									
3. Implement clinical curricula for students and clinicians that empower professionals to work at the top of their scopes of practice, negotiate roles with transparency and respect, and delegate responsibilities consistently with workplace values									
Develop and teach best practices for intra-and interprofessional delegation of duties that optimizes scopes of practice, maintains quality, and reduces cost									
5. Improve fidelity of preceptors' use of objective competency assessments, to include assessment of IPP competencies									

RECOMMENDATION #3	Agents										
Incorporate effective use of healthcare technology into allied health education and practice	ors		nent	are Orgs		ırs	onal Orgs	Program/Faculty			
Action Strategies	Accreditors	Accredit	Accredit	Deans	Government	Healthcare	Patients	Preceptors	Professional	Program	Students
Invest in and use educational technologies, including simulation, to teach and assess foundational knowledge											
Adopt hybrid learning methods including on- line learning to increase student access to educational resources and methods and prepare them as conscientious lifelong consumers of electronic educational resources											
Implement electronic communications and electronic health records pre-clinical training to develop student competencies in documentation of care; consult affiliated health systems administrators to inform and perhaps teach this curriculum											
Teach data management and analysis techniques and artificial intelligence to meet current and future practice needs											
5. Incorporate telehealth education (skills and legal, ethical, and regulatory standards) into curriculum and, where applicable, provide experiential opportunities in practice settings											

RECOMMENDATION #4	Agents								
Advocate with healthcare systems, higher education leadership, accreditors, professional organizations, and governmental agencies, to foster IPP and to encourage informed referrals across disciplines to improve patient/client care	Accreditors	Deans	Government	Healthcare Orgs	Patients	Preceptors	Professional Orgs	Program/Faculty	Students
Action Strategies	Acc	Dea	Gov	ЭН	Pat	Pre	Pro	Pro	Stu
Convene periodic national meetings with stakeholders to influence educational and quality care models to produce competent clinicians									
Identify and minimize obstacles to effective IPP in concert with certification and licensure regulations in order to optimize practice with each profession's full scope of practice									
Work with accreditors to foster educational innovations and meaningful IPE activities									
Reach across levels of higher education (two- year colleges through doctoral programs) to develop and align curricula that teach about allied health disciplines and to teach intra- and interprofessional negotiation and delegation skills									
Investigate and design models for international partnerships to promote global health and create opportunities for student learning in global environments									
Develop collaborative funding proposals to support a "Learning Health Systems Approach" to care that promotes learning among students, clinicians, and patients/clients									

	Agents								
RECOMMENDATION #5 Drive excellence in clinical Drive excellence in clinical education through promotion of research and scholarly activity. Action Strategies	Accreditors	Deans	Government	Healthcare Orgs	Patients	Preceptors	Professional Orgs	Program/Faculty	Students
Evaluate and contrast traditional and innovative clinical models for efficiency and efficacy of student involvement in healthcare settings, from perspectives of patient/clients, preceptors and students (see Table 1 for models)									
Evaluate the contributions of didactic, simulation, and clinical experiences to educational outcomes									
Develop and validate reliable tools and methods to assess student competencies and clinical reasoning skills in relation to time-based and competency-based variable clinical education									
 Develop and validate tools and methodologies to measure how integration of clinical learning impacts value indicators such as healthcare outcomes, patient satisfaction, and cost of care 									
 Design, implement and evaluate curricula to enhance preceptor skills in clinical teaching and assessment 									
Incorporate student and graduate judgments of clinical experiences and educational preparedness for continuous quality improvement									
7. Disseminate research, scholarship and best practices across the ASAHP community									

References

1

- 1. American Hospital Association. Fast facts on U.S. hospitals, 2018. Available at https://www.aha.org/statistics/fast-facts-us-hospitals. Accessed 9/22/18.
- Murphy B. 50 things to know about the hospital industry. Becker's Healthcare, Becker's Hospital Review; 2017 Jan 25. Available at https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/hospital-management-administration/50-things-to-know-about-the-hospital-industry-2017.html. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 3. Ellison A. A state-by-state breakdown of 80 rural hospital closures. Becker's Healthcare, Becker's Hospital CFO Report; 2016 Dec 13. Available at https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/finance/a-state-by-state-breakdown-of-80-rural-hospital-closures.html. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 4. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid, Office of Enterprise Data and Analytics. 2016 CMS statistics. Washington. DC: Department of Health and Human Services; 2017 March. Available at https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/CMS-Statistics-Reference-Booklet/Downloads/2016 CMS Stats.pdf. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 5. Casalino L, Gans D, Weber R, et al. U.S. physician practices spend more than \$15.4 billion annually to report quality measures. *Health Affairs*, 2016; 35(3):401-406.
- 6. Occupational outlook handbook, fastest growing occupations [Internet]. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics; 2018 Jan 30. Available at https://www.bls.gov/ooh/fastest-growing.htm. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 7. Rappleye E. National health spending hits \$3.2T in 2015. Becker's Hospital Review, Becker's Hospital CFO Report. 2015 Dec 5. Available at https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/finance/national-health-spending-hits-3-2t-in-2015.html. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 8. Becker's Hospital Review. Moody's: 132 statistics on nonprofit hospital medians. Becker's Hospital Review, Becker's Hospital CFO Report. 2013 Aug 26. Available at https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/finance/moody-s-132-statistics-on-nonprofit-hospital-medians-fiscal-year-2012.html
- Becker S, Haefner M. 10 thoughts on hospitals and health systems 2017. Becker's Hospital Review, Integration & Physician Issues. 2017 Mar 22. Available at https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/hospital-physician-relationships/10-thoughts-on-hospitals-and-health-systems-2017.html. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 10. Muhlestein D, Burton N, Winfield L. The changing payment landscape of current CMS payment models foreshadow future plans. healthaffairs.org, Health Policy Lab.

- 2017 Feb 3. Available at https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20170203.058589/full/ . Accessed 9/22/18.
- 11. Oostra R. Here's how to reform healthcare: we must address the social conditions and behaviors that cause illness. Becker's Hospital Review, Leadership & Management. 2017 Mar 9. Available at https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/hospital-management-administration/here-s-how-to-reform-healthcare-we-must-address-the-social-conditions-and-behaviors-that-cause-illness.html. Accessed 9/22/18.
- PwC. Preparing future primary care physicians for the new health economy. PwC, HRI Publications. 2017 March. Available at https://www.pwc.com/us/en/health-industries/health-research-institute/publications/preparing-future-primary-care-physicians.html. Accessed 9/22/18.
- PwC. ROI for primary care: building the dream team. PwC. 2016. Available at https://www.pwc.com.au/publications/pdf/health-primary-care-roi-report.pdf. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 14. Intermedix. 2017 healthcare industry brief: priorities and predictions for hospital CFOs. Intermedix Corporation. 2017. Available at https://www.intermedix.com/hubfs/Marketing/Offer_Documents/CFOIndustryBrief.pdf final-racking=bb6a020f-753f-475d-ac9a-419a8057534c%7C4ae094e5-8c01-49af-a8b8-e339969745ec. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 15. Christensen CM, Bohmer RMJ, Kenagy J. Will disruptive innovations cure health care?. *Harvard Business Review*. 2000 Sep-Oct. Available at https://hbr.org/2000/09/will-disruptive-innovations-cure-health-care. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 16. Skinner EH, Haines KJ, Hayes K, Seller D, Toohey JC, Reeve JC, Holdsworth C, Haines TP. Future of specialised roles in allied health practice: who is responsible?. Australian Health Review. 2015; 39:255-259.
- 17. Lizarondo L, Turnbull C, Kroon T, Grimmer K, Bell A, Kumar S, McEvoy M, Milanese S, Russell M, Sheppard L, Walters J, Wiles L. Allied health: integral to transforming health. *Australian Health Review*. 2016; 40:194-204.
- 18. Grumbach K, Lucey CR, Johnston SC. Transforming from centers of learning to learning health systems: the challenge for academic health centers. *JAMA*. 2014; 311(11):1109-1110.
- 19. Wells HG. World of Tomorrow (original publication 1939). New York Times Special Edition. Accessed March 15, 2017.

- 20. PWC. A new treatment? Healthcare findings from the 20th annual global CEO survey, 2017. PwC. 2017. Available at www.pwc.com/ceosurvey. Accessed March 10, 2017.
- 21. Bodenheimer T, SInsky C. From triple to quadruple aim: care of the patient requires care of the provider. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 2014; 12(6):573-576.
- 22. Anderson AH, Martin LA, Mate KS. The value of teaching patients to administer their own care. *Harvard Business Review*. 2017 June 2. Available at https://hbr.org/2017/06/the-value-of-teaching-patients-to-administer-their-own-care PwC. ROI for primary care: building the dream team. PwC. 2016. Available at https://www.pwc.com.au/publications/pdf/health-primary-care-roi-report.pdf . Accessed 9/22/18.
- 23. Frenk J, Chen L, Bhutta ZA, Cohen J, Crisp N, Evans T, et. al. Health professionals for a new century: transforming education to strengthen health systems in an interdependent world. *The Lancet*. 2010; 376(9756):1923-1958.
- 24. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. Future financial economics of health professional education: proceedings of a workshop. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2017.
- 25. Chung Y, Spelbring LM, Boissoneau R. A cost-benefit analysis of fieldwork education in occupational therapy. *Inquiry.* 1980; 17(3):216-229.
- 26. Jones B. Examining the costs and benefits of clinical education. *NAACLS News*. 2001; 79(5).
- 27. Ladyshewsky RK, Barrie SC, Drake VM. A comparison of productivity and learning outcome in individual and cooperative physical therapy clinical education models. *Phys Ther.* 1998; 78(12):1288-1298.
- 28. Meyers SK. Exploring the costs and benefits drivers of clinical education. *Am J Occup Ther.* 1995; 49(2):107-111.
- 29. Phelan SE, Daniels MG, Hewitt L. The costs and benefits of clinical education. *Lab Med*. 1999; 30(11):714-721.
- 30. Davies R, Hanna E, Cott C. "They put you on your toes": physical therapists' perceived benefits from and barriers to supervising students in the clinical setting. *Physiother Can.* 2011; 63(2):224-233.
- 31. Rodger S, Stephens E, Clark M, Ash S, Hurst C, Graves N. Productivity and time use during occupational therapy and nutrition/dietetics clinical education: a cohort study. *PloS One*. 2012; 7(8):1-9.
- 32. Oliver R. Diversity of clinical education models. Paper presented at: Association of Schools of Allied Health (ASAHP) Spring Meeting; 2012; Palm Desert, CA.

- 33. Dizon JMR, Grimmer-Somers KA, Kumar S. Current evidence on evidence-based practice training in allied health: a systematic review of the literature. *Int J Evid Based Healthc*. 2012; 10(4):347-360.
- 34. National Health Service Improvement. Approved costing guidance: standards; 2017. Available at https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/approved-costing-guidance-standards/. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 35. Walsh K. The costs of clinical education. Med Teach, 2015; 37(7):605-607.
- 36. Ladyshewsky R, Bird N, Finney JA. The impact on departmental productivity during physical therapy student placements: an investigation of outpatient physical therapy services. *Physiother Can.* 1994; 46(2):89-93.
- 37. Moore JH, Glenesk KT, Hulsizer DK, McCright BE, Wrenn C, Sander T, et. al. Impact of an innovative clinical internship model in the US Army-Baylor doctoral program in physical therapy. *US Army Med Dep J*. 2014; Jan-Mar:30-34.
- 38. Fulmer T, Gaines M. Partnering with Patients, Families, and Communities to Link Interprofessional Practice and Education. New York: Josiah Macy, Jr. Foundation; 2014.
- 39. Brightwell A, Grant J. Competency-based training: who benefits?. *Postgrad Med J.* 2013; 89(1048):107-110.
- 40. Accreditation Review Commission on Education for the Physician Assistant, Inc (ARC-PA). Accreditation standards for physician assistant education: 4th edition. St. John's, GA: ARC-PA; 2016. Available at http://arc-pa.org/documents/Standards%204th%20Ed%20March%202016.pdf . Accessed 9/22/18.
- 41. Interprofessional Education Collaborative Expert Panel. Core competencies for interprofessional collaborative practice: report of an expert panel. Washington, DC: Association of American Medical Colleges, Interprofessional Education Collaborative; 2011. Available at https://www.aacom.org/docs/default-source/insideome/ccrpt05-10-11.pdf?sfvrsn=77937f97 2. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 42. National Commission on Orthotic and Prosthetic Education on Accreditation of Allied Health Programs (CAAHEP) [Internet]. Alexandria, VA: National Commission on Orthotic and Prosthetic Education; c2013-2018; Available at: http://www.ncope.org/accredited/caahep/. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 43. Skalko T. From the President: take-aways from the Association for Specialized and Professional Accreditors (ASPA). Communique: News from the CAAHEP [Internet]. Clearwater: Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Education Programs; 2017 April. Available at http://myemail.constantcontact.com/CAAHEP-Communiqu-April-2017.html?soid=1101982827434&aid=TzXUQnlVk s. Accessed 9/22/18.

- 44. Cox M, Blouin AS, Cuff P, Paniagua M, Phillips S, Vlasses PH. 2017. The role of accreditation in achieving the quadruple aim for health. *NAM Perspectives*. Washington, DC: National Academy of Medicine; 2017. Available at https://nam.edu/the-role-of-accreditation-in-achieving-the-quadruple-aim. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 45. Triola MM, Huwendick S, Levinson AJ, Cook DA. New directions in e-learning research in health professions education: report of two symposia. *Med Teach*. 2012; 34(1):e15-e20.
- 46. Triola M, Stuart G. Enhancing health professions education through technology: building a continuously learning health system. Proceedings of a conference sponsored by the Josiah Macy Jr. Foundation; 2015 April; New York, NY: Josiah Macy Jr. Foundation; 2015. http://macyfoundation.org/docs/macy_pubs/JMF_ExecSummary_Final.pdf. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 47. Ericsson KA. Deliberate practice and the acquisition and maintenance of expert performance in medicine and related domains. *Acad Med.* 2004; 79(10): s70-s81.
- 48. Motola I, Devine LA, Chung HS, Sullivan JE, Issenberg SB. Simulation in healthcare education: a best evidence practical guide. AMEE guide no. 82. *Med Teach*. 2013; 35(10): e1511-e1530.
- 49. Wayne DB, Didwania A, Feinglass J, Fudala MJ, Barsuk JH, McGaghie WC. Simulation-based education improves quality of care during cardiac arrest team responses at an academic teaching hospital: a case-control study. *Chest*. 2008; 133(1):56-61.
- 50. Watson K, Wright A, Morris N, McMeeken J, Rivett D, Blackstock F, et. al. (2012). Can simulation replace part of clinical time? Two parallel randomised controlled trials. *Med Educ*. 2012; 46(7):657-667.
- 51. Leonard M, Graham S, Bonacum D. The human factor: the critical importance of effective teamwork and communication in providing safe care. *Qual Saf Health Care*. 2004; 13 Suppl 1: i85-i90.
- 52. Gaba DM. The future vision of simulation in healthcare. *Qual Saf Health Care*. 2004; 13 Suppl 1: i2-i10.
- 53. Nancarrow SA, Moran AM, Graham I. Preparing a 21st century workforce: is it time to consider clinically based, competency-based training of health practitioners? Australian Health Review. 12/2013. 38(1). DOI:10.1071/AH13158.
 - 54. Brooks BA. Preparing nurses for emerging roles. *Health Progress*. 2016; Jan-Feb 2016:19-23.

- 55. Council for Higher Education Accreditation. Regulatory relief for accreditation: a position paper. Washington, DC: Council for Higher Education Accreditation; 2017 April. Available at https://www.chea.org/position-paper-regulatory-relief-accreditation. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 56. Sousa A, Flores G. Transforming and Scaling Up Health Professional Education and Training. Policy Brief on Accreditation of Institutions for Health Professional Education [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013. Available at http://whoeducationguidelines.org/sites/default/files/uploads/whoeduguidelines_PolicyBrief Financing.pdf. Accessed9/22/18.
- 57. McFarland J, Hussar B, de Brey C, Snyder T, Wang X, Wilkinson-Flicker S. et. al. The Condition of Education 2017 (NCES 2017- 144). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics; 2017 May. Available at https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2017144. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 58. Smedley BD, Butler AS, Bristow LR. *In the Nation's Compelling Interest: Ensuring Diversity in the Healthcare Workforce*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2004.
- 59. Health Professions and Nursing Education Coalition. Health professions education programs: preparing the next generation of health professionals for the nation's changing needs [Brochure]. Washington, DC: Health Professions and Nursing Education Coalition (HPNEC); 2017. Available at https://www.aamc.org/advocacy/hpnec/FY2017HPNECBrochure.pdf. Accessed 9/22/2018.
- 60. University of California. A new era of growth: a closer look at recent trends in health professions education Oakland: University of California; 2013. Available at https://www.ucop.edu/uc-health/files/a-new-era-of-growth-may2013.pdf. Accessed 9/22/2018.
- 61. Ginder SA, Kelly-Reid JE, Mann FB. Postsecondary institutions and cost of attendance in 2015–16; degrees and other awards conferred, 2014–15; and 12-month enrollment, 2014–15: first look (preliminary data) (NCES 2016- 112). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics; 2016. Available from https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2017075rev. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 62. Yale School of Medicine. Admissions overview. paprogram.yale.edu [Internet]. New Haven: Yale School of Medicine; c2018. [cited 2017 June 18]. Available at https://paonline.yale.edu/admissions/. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 63. Coffey DS, Eliot K, Goldblatt E, Grus C, Kishore SP, Mancini ME, et. al. A multifaceted systems approach to addressing stress within health professions education and beyond. *Perspectives: Expert Voice in Health and Health Care:*National Academy of Medicine [Internet]; 2017. Available at https://nam.edu/wp-pt-pt-1/4

- <u>content/uploads/2017/01/Multifacted-Systems-Approach-to-Addressing-Stress-Within-Health-Professions-Education-and-Beyond.pdf. Accessed 9/22/18.</u>
- 64. Huddleston R. Clinical placements for the professions allied to medicine, part 2. *Br J Occup Ther.* 1999; 62(7):295-298.
- 65. Romig BD, Tucker AW, Hewitt AH, O'Sullivan Maillet J. The future of clinical education: using the Delphi technique to study allied health dean's perspectives on definitions and goals. *J Allied Health*. 2016; 45(4):243-250.
- 66. Anderson J. *The Supervisory Process in Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology*. Toronto: Little Brown & Co.; 1998.
- 67. Burnard P. Learning Human Skills: An Experiential and Reflective Guide for Nurses, 3rd ed. Stockholm: Butterworth-Heinemann; 1995.
- 68. Cox K. Planning bedside teaching: debriefing after clinical interaction. *Med J Aust.* 1993; 158(1):571-572.
- 69. Wetherbee E, Peatman N, Kenney D, Cusson M, Applebaum D. Standards for clinical education: a qualitative study. *J Phys Ther Educ.* 2010; 24(3):35-43.
- 70. Mandy S. Facilitating student learning in clinical education. *Aust J Hum Commun Disord*. 1989; 17:83-89.
- 71. DeClute J, Ladyshewsky RK. Enhancing clinical competence using a collaborative clinical education model. *Phys Ther.* 1991; 73(10):683-689.
- 72. Gubrud-Howe P, Schoessler M. From random access opportunity to a clinical education curriculum. *J Nurs Educ.* 2001; 47(1):3-4.
- 73. Weidner TG, Henning JM. Development of standards and criteria for the selection, training, and evaluation of athletic training approved instructors. *J Athl Train*. 2004; 39(4):335-343.
- 74. Higgs J. Managing clinical education: the educator-manager and the self-directed learner. *Physiotherapy;* 1992; 79(3):239-246.
- 75. Higgs, J. Managing clinical education: the programme. *Physiotherapy;* 1993; 79(4):239-246.
- 76. Hagler P, McFarlane L. Achieving maximum student potential: the supervisor as coach. *Canadian Journal of Rehabilitation*. 1992; 5(1):5-16.
- 77. Gross J, Aysee P, Tracey P. A creative clinical education model. *Three Views.* 1992; 41(4):156-159.
- 78. Kirkpatrick H, Byrne C, Martin ML, Roth ML. A collaborative model for clinical education of baccalaureate nursing students. *J Adv Nurs*. 1991; 16(1):101-107.
- 79. Ogur B, Hirsh D, Krupat E, Bor D. The Harvard Medical School-Cambridge integrated clerkship: an innovative model of clinical education. *Acad Med.* 2007; 83(4):397-404.

- 80. LeFlore JL, Anderson M, Michael JL, Engle WD, Anderson J. Comparison of self-directed learning versus instructor-modeled learning during a simulated clinical experience. *Simul Healthc.* 2007; 2(3):170-177.
- 81. Briffa C, Porter J. A systematic review of the collaborative clinical education model to inform speech-language pathology practice. *Int J of Speech-Lang Pathol.* 2013; 15(6):564-574.
- 82. Dawes J, Lambert P. Practice educator's experiences of supervising two students on allied health practice-based placements. *J Allied Health*. 2010; 39(1):20-27.
- 83. Roberts NJ, Brockington S, Doyle E, Pearce LM, Bowie AJ, Simmance N et al. Innovative model for clinical education in dietetics. J *Nutr Diet.* 2009; 66(1):33-38.
- 84. Triggs NM, Shepard KF. Physical therapy clinical education in a 2:1 student-instructor education model. *Phys Ther.* 1996; 76(9):968-981.
- 85. Nolinske T. Multiple mentoring relationships facilitate learning during fieldwork. *Am J Occup Ther.* 1995; 49(1):39-43.
- 86. Warne T, Johansson UB, Papastavrou E, Tichelaar E, Tomietto M, Van den Bossche K et al. An exploration of the clinical learning experience of nursing students in nine European countries. *Nurs Educ Today.* 2010; 30(8):809-815.
- 87. Dunfee HJ. Clinical education: past, present, and future. *J Phys Ther Educ.* 2008; 22(3):3-6.
- 88. Gwyer J, Odom C, Gandy J. History of clinical education in physical therapy. *J Phys Ther Educ.* 2003; 17(3):34-43.
- 89. Ogur B, Hirsh D, Krupat E, Bor D. The Harvard Medical School-Cambridge integrated clerkship: an innovative model of clinical education. *Acad Med.* 2007; 83(4):397-404.
- 90. Hirsh D, Gaufberg E, Ogur B, Cohen P, Krupat E, Cox M, et. al. Educational outcomes of the Harvard Medical School–Cambridge Integrated Clerkship: a way forward for medical education. *Acad Med.* 2012; 87(5):643-650.
- 91. Brandt BF, Quake-Rapp C, Shanedling J, Spannaus-Martin D, Marting P. Blended learning: emerging best practices in allied health workforce development. *J Allied Health*. 2010; 39(4): e167-e172.
- 92. Rowe M, Frantz J, Bozalek V. The role of blended learning in the clinical education of healthcare students. *Med Teach.* 2012; 34(4): e216-e221.
- 93. Ladyshewsky RK. Building cooperation in peer coaching relationships: understanding the relationships between reward structure, learner preparedness, coaching skills, and learner engagement. *Physiotherapy*. 2006; 92(1):4-10.
- 94. Ladyshewsky RK. Building competency in the novice allied health professional through peer coaching. *J Allied Health*. 2010; 39(2):e77-82.

- 95. Baird S, Bopp A, Schofer K, Langenberg A, Matheis-Kraft C. An innovative model for clinical teaching. *Nurse Educ.* 1994; 19(3):23-25.
- 96. Jackson N. Part-time faculty suggestions for policy. Nurs Educ. 1986; 13(1):36-40.
- 97. Shah H, Pennypacker D. The clinical teaching partnership. *Nurse Educ.* 1992; 17(2):10-12.
- 98. Lekkas P, Larsen T, Kumar S, Grimmer K, Nyland L, Chipchase L. No model of clinical education is superior to another: a systematic review. *Aust J Physiother*. 2007; 53(1):19-28.
- 99. Jette DU, Nelson L, Palaima M, Wetherbee E. How do we improve quality in clinical education? *J Phys Ther Educ.* 2014; 95(4):6-12.
- 100. Buelow JR, Rathsack C, Downs D, Jorgensen K, Karges JR, Nelson D. Building interdisciplinary teamwork among allied health students through live clinical case simulations. *J Allied Health*. 2008; 37(2):e109-e123.
- 101. Scarvell JM, Stone J. An interprofessional collaborative practice model for preparation of clinical educators. *J Interprof Care*. 2010; 24(4):386-400.
- 102. Harder BN. Use of simulation in teaching and learning in health sciences: a systematic review. *J Nurs Educ.* 2010; 49(1):23-28.
- 103. Richter RR, Ruebling I. Model for development of outcome assessment surveys for allied health educational programs. *J Allied Health*. 2003; 32(3):179-184.
- 104. Wilkinson DM, Smallidge D, Boyd LD, Giblin L. Students' perceptions of teaching methods that bridge theory to practice in dental hygiene education. *J Dent Hyg.* 2015; 89(5):330-337.
- 105. Cole B, Wessel J. How clinical instructors can enhance the learning experience of physical therapy students in an introductory clinical placement. *Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract.* 2008; 13(2):163-179.
- 106. Papp I, Markkanen M, von Bonsdorf M. Clinical environment as a learning environment: student nurses' perceptions concerning learning experiences. *Nurs Educ Today.* 2003; 23(4):262-268.
- 107. Gat S, Ratson NZ. Comparison of occupational therapy students' perceived skills after traditional and nontraditional fieldwork. Am J Occup Ther. 2014; 68(2): e47e54.
- 108. Shrader S, Thompson A, Gonsalves WC. Assessing student attitudes as a result of participating in an interprofessional healthcare elective associated with a student-run free clinic. *J Res Interprof Pract Educ.* 2010; 1(3):218-230.
- 109. Brockwell D, Wielandt T, Clark M. Four years after graduation: occupational therapists' work destinations and perceptions of preparedness for practice. *Aust J Rural Health*. 2009; 17(2):71-76.

- 110. Lowe, S. Clinical education for allied health students and rural clinical placements. Dickson, ACT: Services for Australian Rural and Remote Allied Health; 2007 August; p. 8. Available at https://www.sarrah.org.au/sites/default/files/docs/rural_clinical_education_for_allied_health_students_issues_paper_august_2007.pdf. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 111. Mak DB, Miflin B. Living and working with the people of "the bush": a foundation for rural and remote clinical placements in undergraduate medical education. *Med Teach.* 2012; 34(9):e603-e610.
- 112. Rosenwax L, Gribble N, Margaria H. GRACE: an innovative program of clinical education in allied health. *J Allied Health*. 2010; 39(1):11-16.
- 113. Doubt L, Paterson M, O'Riordan A. Clinical education in private practice: an interdisciplinary project. *J Allied Health*. 2004; 33(1):47-50.
- 114. Kacmarek RM, Durbin CG, Barnes TA, Kageler WV, Walton JR, O'Neil EH. Creating a vision for respiratory care in 2015 and beyond. *Respir Care*. 2009; 54(3):375-389.
- 115. Kantor SL. The nursing home as a core site for educating residents and medical students. *Acad Med.* 2012; 87(5):547-548.
- 116. Sheepway L, Lincoln M, Togher L. An international study of clinical education practices in speech-language pathology. *Int J Speech-Lang Pathol.* 2011; 13(2):174-185.
- 117. Atler K, Gavin WJ. Service-learning-based instruction enhances students' perceptions of their abilities to engage in evidence-based practice. *Occup Ther Health Care.* 2010; 24(1):23-38.
- 118. Sawyer KL, Lopopolo R. Perceived impact on physical therapist students of an international pro bono clinical education experience in a developing country. *J Phys Ther Educ.* 2004; 18(2):40-47.
- 119. Geist K, Ander DS, White M, Rossi A, Johanson MA, Davis B. The physical therapist's expertise in the emergency medicine residency curriculum: an academic model for integrated healthcare education. *J Phys Ther Educ.* 2016; 30(4):17-23.
- 120. Institute of Medicine. Educating for practice: Improving health by linking education to practice using interprofessional education. Presented at: The Forum on Innovation; 2012; Washington, DC.
- 121. Kanji Z, Lin D, Krekoski C. Interprofessional education and collaborative practice. *Can J Dent Hyg.* 2017; 51(1):42-48.
- 122. Health Professions Network Nursing and Midwifery Office, Hopkins D, editor. Framework for action on interprofessional education & collaborative practice. Geneva: World Health Organization, Department of Human Resources for Health; 2010. Available at

- http://www.who.int/hrh/resources/framework_action/en/index.html_. Accessed 9/22/18.
- 123. Carpenter J. Interprofessional education for medical and nursing students: evaluation of a programme. *Med Educ.* 1995; 29(4):265-272.
- 124. Dubouloz C, Savard J, Burnett D, Guitard P. An interprofessional rehabilitation university clinic in primary healthcare: a collaborative learning model for physical therapist students in a clinical placement. *J Phys Ther Educ.* 2010; 24(1):19-24.
- 125. Neill D, Hammer J, Linnstaedter JK. Navigating the waters of interprofessonal collaborative education. *J Nurs Educ.* 2012; 51(5):291-293.
- 126. Conrad SC, Sheldon M, Cavanaugh JT, Croninger W, Osgood W, Robnett R, Simonsen L. Preparing rehabilitation healthcare providers in the 21st century: implementation of interprofessional education through an academic-clinical site partnership. *Work.* 2012; 41(3):269-275.
- 127. Cox PD, Beaton C, Bossers A. Interdisciplinary pilot project in a rehabilitation setting. *J Allied Health*. 1999; 28(1):25-29.
- 128. American Physical Therapy Association. Embracing clinical education standards. Presented at: 2007 Consensus Conference on Standards in Clinical Education; 2007 Dec 13-15; Alexandria, VA. American Physical Therapy Association. Available at: http://www.apta.org/PTClinicalEducationPrinciples/. Accessed 9/22/2018.
- 129. Barnes TA, Kacmarek RM, Kageler WV, Morris MJ, Durbin CG. Transitioning the respiratory therapy workforce for 2015 and beyond. *Respir Care*. 2011; 56(5):681-690.
- 130. Butina M, Brooks D, Dominguez P, Mahon G. Utilization of virtual learning environments in the allied health professions. *J Allied Health*, 2013; 42(1): e7-e10.
- 131. Kenaszchuk C, MacMillan K, van Soren M, Reeves S. Interprofessional simulated learning: short-term associations between simulation and interprofessional collaboration. *BMC Medicine*. 2011; 9(29):1-10.
- 132. School of Health Related Professions Clinical Education Task Force. *Informal Simulation Survey*. SHRP Clinical Education Task Force (Ed.). Newark: UMDNJ; 2011.
- 133. Brown MR, Watts P. Primer on interprofessional simulation for clinical laboratory science programs: a practical guide to structure and terminology. *Clin Lab Sci.* 2016; 29(4):241-246.
- 134. Sabus C, Macauley K. Simulation in physical therapy education and practice: opportunities and evidence-based instruction to achieve meaningful learning outcomes. *J Phys Ther Educ.* 2016; 30(1):3-13.

- 135. Hoffman SJ, Rosenfield D, Nasmith L. What attracts students to interprofessional education and other healthcare reform initiatives? *J Allied Health*. 2009; 38(3):e75-e78.
- 136. Missen K, Jacob ER, Barnett T, Walker L, Cross M. Interprofessional clinical education: clinicians' views on the importance of leadership. *Collegian*. 2012; 19:189-195.
- 137. Romig BD, Tucker AW, Hewitt AH, O'Sullivan Maillet J. The future of clinical education: opportunities and challenges from allied health deans' perspective. *J Allied Health*. 2017; 46(1):45-57.
- 138. Thomas C, Mackey E. Influence of a clinical simulation elective on baccalaureate nursing student clinical confidence. *J Nurs Educ.* 2012; 51(4):236-239.
- 139. George K. Incorporating interprofessional simulations in dietetics education [masters thesis]. [Lawerence (KS)]: University of Kansas; 2014. Available at: https://kuscholarworks.ku.edu/bitstream/handle/1808/15769/George ku 0099M 13
 https://ku.edu/bitstream/handle/1808/15769/George ku 0099M 13
 https://ku.edu/bitstream/handle/1808/15769/George ku 0099M 13
 https://ku.edu/bitstream/handle/1808/15769/George ku 0099M 13
 https://ku.edu/bitstream/handle/1808/1576
- 140. Giles AK, Carseon NE, Breland HL, Coker-Bolt P, Bowman PJ. Use of simulated patients and reflective video analysis to assess occupational therapy students' preparedness for fieldwork. *Am J Occup Ther.* 2014; 68(2): s57-s66.
- 141. McGee G, Sopeth L. Occupational therapy student learning in acute care contests: blending online, classroom, simulation, and fieldwork education. *Am J Occup Ther.* 2015; 69(Suppl 1):1.
- 142. Smith KM, Geletta S, Juels C. The students' perspective in examining the use of high-fidelity simulators in a podiatric medical curriculum. *J Am Podiatr Med Assoc.* 2015; 105(4):338-343.
- 143. Nestel D, Groom J, Eikeland-Husebo S, O'Donnell JM. Simulation for learning and teaching procedural skills: the state of the science. *Simul Healthc.* 2011; 6(7):s10-s13.
- 144. Richardson H, Gilmartin MJ, Fulmer T. Shifting the clinical teaching paradigm in undergraduate nursing education to address the nursing faculty shortage. *J Nurs Educ.* 2012; 51(4):226-232.
- 145. Cook DA, Triola MM. Virtual patients: a critical literature review and proposed next steps. *Med Educ.* 2009; 43(3):303-311.
- 146. Alessi S. Fidelity on the design of instructional simulations. *Journal of Computer-Based Instruction*. 1996; 15(2):40-47.
- 147. National Research Council: Committee on Research Universities Board on Higher Education and Workforce Policy and Global Affairs. Research universities and the

- future of America: ten breakthrough actions vital to our nation's prosperity and security. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2012. 24 p.
- 148. Gallagher P, Carr L, Wang S, Fudakowski Z. Simple truths from medical students: perspectives on the quality of clinical learning environments. *Med Teach*. 2012; 34(5):e332-e337.
- 149. Evidence Based Practice. https://libraryguides.nau.edu/c.php?g=665927&p=4682772. Accessed 9/15/2018.